Chapter 9

Individual Predisposition to Irritant and Allergic Contact Dermatitis

Tove Agner, Torkil Menné

Contents

Introduction	127
Irritant Contact Dermatitis	127
Can "Sensitive Skin" Be Identified?	127
Sensitive Skin	127
Skin Irritancy Test	128
Noninvasive Measuring Methods for Identification of Sensitive Skin	128
Individual-Related Variation	
in Skin Susceptibility	128
Genetic Factors	128
Sex	129
Age	129
Ethnic Factors	129
Regional Differences	129
Atopy	129
Coincidental Diseases (Other Than Atopy) .	130
Medication	130
Allergic Contact Dermatitis	130
to Contact Sensitization	130
Genetic Factors	130
Sex	130
Age	131
Ethnic Factors	131
Regional Differences	131
Atopy	131
Coincidental Diseases (Other Than Atopy) .	131
Medication	132
Suggested Reading	132
References	132
	Irritant Contact DermatitisCan "Sensitive Skin" Be Identified?Sensitive SkinSkin Irritancy TestNoninvasive Measuring Methodsfor Identification of Sensitive SkinIndividual-Related Variationin Skin SusceptibilityGenetic FactorsSexAgeEthnic FactorsRegional DifferencesAtopyCoincidental Diseases (Other Than Atopy)Medicationto Contact DermatitisIndividual Predispositionto Contact SensitizationGenetic FactorsSexAgeCoincidental Diseases (Other Than Atopy)MedicationContact SensitizationContact SensitizationContact SensitizationContact SensitizationCoincidental Diseases (Other Than Atopy)MedicationMedicationSexAgeCoincidental Diseases (Other Than Atopy)MedicationSuggested ReadingSuggested Reading

9.1 Introduction

Contact dermatitis is a skin disease that is either caused or exaggerated by environmental factors. However, development of contact dermatitis requires the combination of environmental factors and a susceptible host. While some individuals may develop contact dermatitis after only brief contact with irritants or allergens, other individuals may continue to remain unaffected even under extreme exogenous conditions. This chapter will focus on the susceptibility of the host to the development of irritant and/or allergic contact dermatitis.

9.2 Irritant Contact Dermatitis

Irritant contact dermatitis is a complex disease, with a multifactorial pathogenesis, to which individual as well as environmental factors contribute. Within the individual, the response to irritant stimuli depends on the skin barrier function, the inflammatory reactivity of the skin and – addressing chronic irritant contact dermatitis – its regeneration ability. Individual-related variables that influence these factors, and attempts to identify "sensitive skin," will be discussed in the following.

9.2.1 Can "Sensitive Skin" Be Identified?

9.2.1.1 Sensitive Skin

Exposed to the same exogenous conditions some individuals develop an irritant eczema while others do not. The group that develops eczema may be expected to have increased skin susceptibility or increased skin reactivity compared to the rest. Whether the concept of "sensitive skin" in fact exists has been debated. In his pioneering study of primary irritants, Björnberg found no correlation between the intensity evoked by 11 different primary irritants, and stated that the response to one particular irritant does not necessarily predict the response to another irritant [1]. This statement was supported by later studies [2, 3]. However, Frosch and Kligman [4] reported a statistically significant correlation between the skin response to particular irritants, and a group of individuals with sensitive skin could be identified by assessment of skin susceptibility to skin test with seven different irritants and assessment of minimal erythema dose (MED) [5]. For preselection of hyper-reactors, Frosch and Kligman [6] for practical reasons used a 24-h forearm chamber exposure to 5% sodium lauryl sulfate (SLS).

The contradiction between reports that no correlation between irritant responses exists and that hyper-reactors can be identified may be specifically explained by choice of irritants, dose, test region, and test method. The different penetration abilities of particular irritants may account for discrepancies in the intensity of the evoked skin response. Use of high doses of irritants, eliciting severe reactions, may tend to equalize skin responses. Regional variation also exists [7].

9.2.1.2 Skin Irritancy Test

The identification of subjects with increased susceptibility to irritants would play an important role in the prevention of irritant contact dermatitis. Based on the original alkali test by Burckhardt [8], numerous pre-employment tests have been suggested [9–11]. However, reproducibility of the screening methods is low and the inter-individual variation high, and none of the tests has hitherto been found satisfactory for the purpose of pre-employment tests for sensitive skin.

9.2.1.3 Noninvasive Measuring Methods for Identification of Sensitive Skin

A number of noninvasive bioengineering methods have been used in an attempt to evaluate the biophysical properties of skin.

Experimental data, mainly based on SLS-induced skin irritation, indicate that measurement of baseline transepidermal water loss (TEWL) may be helpful for identification of sensitive skin. Tupker et al. [12] studied the role of baseline TEWL in skin susceptibility to weak irritants in healthy volunteers and found that barrier damage and inflammation evoked by the irritants were strongly related to baseline TEWL. In a group of 70 nonatopic healthy volunteers challenged with SLS, baseline TEWL was found to contribute significantly to a multiple regression analysis model using TEWL after exposure as the dependent variable [13], and, in the same study, subjects with high visual scores after SLS exposure had increased baseline TEWL compared with those who had low visual scores. Only a few studies have utilized individual baseline TEWL values for prediction of risk of irritant contact dermatitis. Repetitive measurements of baseline TEWL in workers in the metal industry in Singapore indicated that high TEWL values obtained

from the back of the hands may predict later development of irritant contact dermatitis [14]. This finding was supported by a recent study of apprentice hairdressers and apprentice nurses, reporting a trend toward a relationship between increased baseline TEWL and risk of hand dermatitis [15]. Findings were however not statistically significant. This indicates that baseline TEWL is only one of a number of factors influencing skin susceptibility, and the particular significance of this parameter may be overruled by other factors. Recently, the irritant threshold for an SLS patch test applied for 4 h was illustrated to correlate well with TEWL values obtained from SLSirritated skin, indicating that the irritant threshold technique may be helpful in predicting the development of occupational contact dermatitis [16].

Attempts to identify sensitive skin have also been performed by other bioengineering methods. Measurements of skin hydration by electrical capacitance and electrical conductance measurements are generally considered of limited value as indicators of sensitive skin [17]. Measurement of skin color has been reported to be helpful in the evaluation of skin sensitivity to irritants [13, 18], but intermittent exposure to UV light may interfere with the accuracy of measurements. Biophysical properties such as pH values, skin lipids, and skin thickness as measured by ultrasound need further investigation with respect to their usefulness as indicators of sensitive skin [16]. Today, none of the bioengineering methods can by themselves identify sensitive skin. Further studies using varying experimental designs are necessary, and final conclusions depend on large-scale epidemiological studies.

9.2.2 Individual-Related Variation in Skin Susceptibility

9.2.2.1 Genetic Factors

Apart from the relationship between atopic dermatitis and development of irritant contact dermatitis, which is discussed below, the knowledge of influence of genetic factors is sparse, and systematic studies in this field are few. Holst and Möller studied the cutaneous sensitivity to benzalkonium chloride, SLS, and potash soap in twins [19]. Comparing the intra-pair reaction strength a higher degree of concordance was found among monozygotic than among dizygotic twins for one irritant, but not for all irritants tested. This indicates that a genetic predisposition to irritant susceptibility may be specific for each irritant (Table 1). In a recent questionnaire investigation inTable 1. Influence of individual related factors on skin reactivity to irritants and allergens

	Reactivity to irritants	Reactivity to allergens
Genetic factors	Yes	?
Sex	No	?
Age	Yes	?
Ethnic factors	?	?
Regional differences	Yes	Yes
Atopic dermatitis	Yes	?
Medication	Yes	Yes

cluding 6666 twins, hereditary risk factors were found to play a significant part in the development of hand eczema in the general population, when no extreme environmental exposure was present [20]. A subsample of the same twin material was studied with regard to contact allergy, atopic dermatitis and wet work, and the results indicated that a hitherto unrecognized genetic risk factor for hand eczema independent of atopic dermatitis and contact allergy is important for development of irritant contact dermatitis localized on the hands [21].

9.2.2.2 Sex

Hand eczema and contact dermatitis are known to occur more frequently in women than in men [22, 23]. This may, however, very well reflect differences in environmental hazards rather than endogenous differences between the sexes. Results from the abovementioned twin study indicated that the high frequency of hand eczema in women in comparison with men was caused by environmental and not genetic factors [21].

Most experimental investigations have found no sex-relation in skin susceptibility [13, 24, 25].

Hormonal influence on skin reactivity in relation to the menstrual cycle has been discussed. Increased skin reactivity prior to and during the menstrual phase was initially reported by Halter in 1941 [26], and was supported by later casuistic reports [27, 28]. In an experimental study, skin reactivity to SLS was found to be significantly increased at day 1 in the menstrual cycle as compared to days 9–11 in nonmenstruating women [29]. No cyclic variation in baseline TEWL has been reported. In experimental settings and in attempts of predictive patch testing, the influence of menstrual cycle on skin reactivity may be of some importance, but the clinical implication of the finding is uncertain.

Chapter 9

9.2.2.3 Age

Increased susceptibility to irritants in childhood has been reported [30], as well as an increased susceptibility to SLS in young compared to elderly females [31]. Irritation, however, seemed to be more prolonged in the older group [32], indicating less skin reactivity but a prolonged healing period in older people. Barrier properties in aged skin (>80 years of age) were recently studied [33], and an abnormal barrier integrity and repair function as compared to young skin (20–30 years) was reported. These abnormalities were attributed to a deficiency in key stratum corneum lipids in old age.

9.2.2.4 Ethnic Factors

An inclination toward increased skin susceptibility to SLS in black and Hispanic skin was reported [34, 35], but a statistically significant difference was found only for particular concentrations of the irritant, and only when tested on pre-occluded skin. Decreased transcutaneous penetration was reported in black persons.

9.2.2.5 Regional Differences

Susceptibility to irritants differs between anatomical regions. In most studies skin susceptibility to irritants is ranked as extremities < back < forehead [36, 37]. Baseline TEWL with respect to anatomical sites can be ranked as back = abdomen = arm < dorsum of hand < forehead < palm [38]. However, a linear relationship between TEWL and skin reactivity to exogenous substances cannot be generalized, neither to all anatomical sites nor to every substance.

9.2.2.6 Atopy

The significance of a history of atopic dermatitis for the development of irritant hand eczema has been comprehensively demonstrated [21, 39, 40]. In experimental studies baseline TEWL has been reported to be increased in uninvolved skin in patients with atopic dermatitis [41–43], and patients with atopic dermatitis were reported to react more severely to irritants than healthy controls [43, 44]. The characteristic functional abnormalities as found in atopic dermatitis were not found in baseline conditions or after irritant exposure [45] in patients with respiratory atopy without atopic dermatitis.

9.2.2.7 Coincidental Diseases (Other Than Atopy)

In a recent study, the ability of individuals who perceive stinging to experience irritant reactions in the skin was examined. It was concluded that the ability to perceive stinging is not correlated to irritant susceptibility or other types of nonimmunological skin responses [46].

Hyper-reactive skin with an exaggerated response to irritants has been proven in patients with current active eczema [18, 23]. Hyporeactive skin with a decreased response to irritants was reported in patients with severe cancer [47].

9.2.2.8 Medication

Cortisol treatment is known to reduce skin responsiveness to irritants [48]. The influence of other drugs has not been thoroughly studied.

Core Message

ICD is a complex disease, to which individual as well as environmental factors contribute.
Atopic dermatitis (previous or current) is a major individual risk factor for development of ICD.

9.3 Allergic Contact Dermatitis

The development of contact allergy is dependent on individual susceptibility and exposure to potential allergens (Table 1).

9.3.1 Individual Predisposition to Contact Sensitization

9.3.1.1 Genetic Factors

Sulzberger and co-workers [49,50] in human sensitization experiments with *p*-nitroso-dimethylaniline (NDMA) and 2,4-dinitrochlorobenzene (DNCB) established an individual variation in susceptibility to contact sensitization, and further showed that individuals who were highly susceptible to sensitization with one chemical showed little or no susceptibility to sensitization with other chemicals. More recent studies suggest that individual susceptibility occurs by a non-antigen-specific amplification of immune sensitization [51].

Twin studies on allergic contact sensitization are sparse. In a twin study of reactivity to DNCB and tuberculin no difference in concordance rate for dizygotic and monozygotic twins was reported [52]. Contradicting this, a study of nickel allergy in twins suggested that genetic influence over contact sensitization to nickel is likely [53]. In a recent Danish study including 630 female twins of whom 146 had a positive patch test to nickel, it was concluded that allergic nickel contact dermatitis is caused mainly by environmental factors and only to a lesser degree by genetic factors [54].

Numerous studies of the HLA genes in contact sensitization have not disclosed any consistent pattern [55]. The lack of association between the HLA genes and contact sensitization does not exclude the importance of genetic factors. Hitherto unknown HLA genes may be associated with allergic contact dermatitis, there may be heterogeneity in allergic contact dermatitis, and/or allergic contact dermatitis may not be associated or linked to the HLA region.

In conclusion, it seems that some individuals are more easily sensitized than others to common haptens due to their genetic background, but the total number of sensitized individuals in the population depends upon the degree of cutaneous exposure.

9.3.1.2 Sex

Women have higher immunoglobulin levels (IgM and IgG) than men, and stronger cell-mediated immune responses [56]. Both in animal studies and in humans, there is a preponderance of autoimmune disease in women compared to men.

Walker et al. [57], however, found that men are more susceptible to DNCB sensitization compared to women in a large well-controlled study. A similar study on patch sensitization to *p*-amino-diphenylamine and isopropyl-*p*-diphenylamine disclosed a significantly increased number of women sensitized as compared to men [58]. The authors suggest that women, through more frequent contact with para substances than men, may achieve subclinical sensitization. Rees et al. [59] report an increased reactivity to challenge with DNCB in DNCB-sensitized women compared to DNCB-sensitized men.

The main reason for female preponderance in clinical patch test studies is the high number of nick-

el- and cobalt-sensitive women. This is most likely a consequence of different exposure, with ear piercing the main risk factor for nickel allergy in women. A recent study of nickel allergy in men with pierced ears confirmed the role of ear piercing as a risk factor for nickel sensitization also in men, but the frequency of nickel allergy in men with pierced ears was lower than the frequency reported in women [60].

The influence of sex hormones on induction and elicitation of contact allergy is largely unknown. In a pilot study the response to DNCB was enhanced in women receiving oral contraceptive hormones [61] and a preliminary report indicates that the cutaneous reactivity to patch testing differs within the menstrual cycle [27]. The limited knowledge in this field is inconclusive, and deserves further systematic evaluation [62].

9.3.1.3 Age

The exposure pattern to environmental allergens differs between age groups. The most frequently recognized contact allergies in children are thiomersal, nickel, fragrance mix, and isothiazolinones [63] and, in the United States, poison ivy and poison oak. Young people are more exposed to industrial and cosmetic chemicals than the elderly, who are more exposed to topical medicaments. The elderly may have one or more contact allergies reflecting exposure 30-40 years earlier, with the positive patch test being of historical interest only. Prevalence of contact allergy would be expected to increase with increasing age. In a recent study including 1501 8th-grade schoolchildren, as much as 15% were reported to have one or more positive patch tests [64]. In epidemiological studies of contact allergy, age is therefore an important confounder, which should be handled adequately, for example by stratification or multivariate analysis. Loss of sensitivity over the years or reduction of the contact allergy to below a clinically relevant threshold - has been debated [65], and figures such as 20% to 50% have been suggested. However, these studies have not considered a possible overestimation of contact allergies in the primary studies due to excited skin syndrome.

9.3.1.4 Ethnic Factors

In an experimental study from 1966, black people were found to be less susceptible to contact sensitization with poison ivy and DNCB compared to white [66]. Newer data are not available.

9.3.1.5 Regional Differences

As mentioned above, exposure to allergens and ability of the allergens to penetrate the epidermis are essential factors for contact sensitization. These factors are influenced by regional variation. Sensitization is increased by traumatizing the skin, and skin exposed to irritants, for example on the hands, may often be traumatized. The barrier abilities of stratum corneum change from one region to another, as reflected by differences in TEWL values [38], and penetration abilities for different allergens may likewise change.

Occlusion promotes percutaneous penetration, and contributes to sensitization from topical medications in stasis dermatitis and perianal eczema.

Reactivity to diagnostic patch testing differs greatly according to anatomical site. Skin responsiveness is more pronounced on the back than on the arms and thighs, and only the upper back is recommended for routine diagnostic patch testing.

9.3.1.6 Atopy

Atopics downregulate Th1 cells, which explains their tendency to severe viral infections, particularly with herpes simplex [67]. Because of this Th1-cell downregulation, a decreased propensity to contact dermatitis is expected. Clinical studies addressing this problem are contradictory, but most find a decreased tendency to contact sensitization [68–71]. Some studies suggest that especially patients with severe atopic dermatitis have a decreased ability to develop contact allergies [72, 73]. In a population-based study no correlation, either positive or negative, was found between the presence of a positive patch test and IgE sensitivity [74]. Respiratory symptoms may also be of importance, and different subgroups of atopic patients with respect to contact sensitization may exist.

Another possible bias is the increased number of irritant patch test results in atopic patients, especially when testing metals, e.g., nickel, cobalt, and chromate [75]. Recent studies do, however, indicate that atopics seem to have an increased frequency of nickel sensitization [76]. Because of these uncertainties, patch test results should specify the number of patients included with atopy.

9.3.1.7 Coincidental Diseases (Other Than Atopy)

Patients with acute or debilitating diseases such as cancer (Hodgkin's disease and lymphoma) have im-

paired capacity for contact sensitization [47]. Patients with psoriasis are generally considered to have fewer contact allergies than others, but, due to the intensive treatment of psoriasis patients with topical agents, this impression may not be correct [77].

9.3.1.8 Medication

It is a general clinical experience that systemic prednisolone in a dose exceeding 15 mg/day may diminish or suppress allergic patch test reactions, as may topical corticoid treatment. Antihistamines and disodium cromoglycate do not seem to significantly influence the allergic contact dermatitis reaction. The influence of azathioprine and nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs on the outcome of patch test reactions is unexplored.

Exposure to ultraviolet light, especially UVB [78, 79] and PUVA [80, 81], may reduce risk of sensitization and temporarily diminish the ability to elicit allergic reactions in sensitized individuals.

Suggested Reading

Björnberg A (1968) Skin reactions to primary irritants in patients with hand eczema. Isacson, Göteborg

Rystedt I (1985) Factors influencing the occurrence of hand eczema in adults with a history of atopic dermatitis in childhood. Contact Dermatitis 12:185–191

The thesis by Björnberg from 1968 was chosen as a classical reference, since the knowledge today about irritants and skin irritancy testing is still dependent on the results from this great work.

The epidemiological studies performed by Rystedt in the 1980s are still of current interest, and are the basis for the advice that we give today to atopic patients to prevent development of ICD.

References

- 1. Björnberg A (1968) Skin reactions to primary irritants in patients with hand eczema. Isacson, Göteborg
- 2. Coenraads PJ, Bleumik E, Nater JP (1975) Susceptibility to primary irritants. Contact Dermatitis 1: 377–381
- 3. Wahlberg JE, Wrangsjö K, Hietasalo A (1985) Skin irritancy from nonanoic acid. Contact Dermatitis 13:266–269
- Frosch PJ, Kligman AM (1982) Recognition of chemically vulnerable and delicate skin. In: Frost P, Horwitz S (eds) Principles of cosmetics for the dermatologist. Mosby, St Louis, Mo., pp 287–296
- Frosch PJ, Wissing C (1982) Cutaneous sensitivity to ultraviolet light and chemical irritants. Arch Dermatol Res 272: 269–278
- 6. Frosch PJ, Kligman AM (1979) The soap chamber test. J Am Acad Dermatol 1:35-41

- 7. Flannigan SA, Smith RE, McGovern JP (1984) Intraregional variation between contact irritant patch test sites. Contact Dermatitis 10:123–124
- 8. Burkkhardt W (1947) Neure Untersuchungen bei die Alkali-empfindlichkeit der Haut. Dermatologica 94:73–96
- 9. Iliev D, Hinnen U, Elsner P (1997) Reproducibility of a non-invasive skin irritancy test in a cohort of metalworker trainees. Contact Dermatitis 36:101–103
- Hinnen U, Elsner P, Burg G (1995) Assessment of skin irritancy by 2 short tests compared to acute irritation induced by sodium lauryl sulfate. Contact Dermatitis 33: 236–239
- 11. Loffler H, Effendy I, Happle R (1996) The sodium lauryl sulfate test. A noninvasive functional evaluation of skin hypersensitivity. Hautarzt 47:832–838
- 12. Tupker RA, Coenraads PJ, Pinnagoda J, Nater JP (1989) Baseline transepidermal water loss (TEWL) as a prediction of susceptibility to sodium lauryl sulfate. Contact Dermatitis 20:265–269
- Agner T (1992) Noninvasive measuring methods in the investigation of irritant patch test reactions. A study of patients with hand eczema, atopic dermatitis and controls. Acta Derm Venereol (Stockh) [Suppl] 177:44-46
- 14. Coenraads PJ, Lee J, Pinnagoda J (1986) Changes in water vapour loss from the skin of metal industry workers monitored during exposure to oils. Scand J Work Environ Health 12:494-498
- Smit HA, van Rijssen A, Vandenbroucke JP, Coenraads PJ (1994) Susceptibility to and incidence of hand dermatitis in a cohort of apprentice hairdressers and nurses. Scand J Work Environ Health 20:113–121
- Smith HR, Rowson M, Basketter DA, McFadden JP (2004) Intra-individual variation of irritant threshold and relationsship to transepidermal water loss measurement of skin irritation. Contact Dermatitis 51:26–29
- 17. Wilhelm KP, Maibach HI (1990) Factors predisposing to cutaneous irritation. Dermatol Clin 8:17–22
- 18 Agner T (1991) Skin susceptibility in uninvolved skin of hand eczema patients and healthy controls. Br J Dermatol 125:140-146
- 19. Holst R, Möller H (1975) One hundred twin pairs patch tested with primary irritants. Br J Dermatol 93:145–149
- Bryld LE, Agner T, Kyvik KO, Brondsted L, Hindsberger C, Menné T (2000) Hand eczema in twins: a questionnaire investigation. Br J Dermatol 142:298–305
- 21. Bryld LE, Hindsberger C, Kyvik KO, Agner T, Menné T (2003) Risk factors influencing the development of hand eczema in a population-based twin sample. Br J Dermatol 149:1214-1220
- 22. Rystedt I (1985) Factors influencing the occurrence of hand eczema in adults with a history of atopic dermatitis in childhood. Contact Dermatitis 12:185–191
- 23. Meding B, Swanbeck G (1989) Epidemiology of different types of hand eczema in an industrial city. Acta Derm Venereol (Stockh) 69:227-233
- 24. Björnberg A (1975) Skin reactionsto primary irritants in men and women. Acta Derm Venereol (Stockh) 55:191–196
- 25. Tupker RA, Coenraads PJ, Pinnagoda J, Nater JP (1989) Baseline transepidermal water loss (TEWL) as a prediction of susceptibility to sodium lauryl sulfate. Contact Dermatitis 20:265–269
- 26. Halter K (1941) Zur Pathogenese des Ekzems. Arch Derm U Syph 181:593-719
- 27. Alexander S (1988) Patch testing and menstruation. Lancet i:751
- 28. Kemmet D (1989) Premenstrual exacerbation of atopic dermatitis. Br J Dermatol 120:715

- 29. Agner T, Damm P, Skouby SO (1991) Menstrual cycle and skin reactivity. J Am Acad Dermatol 24:566–570
- 30. Frosch JP (1985) Hautirritation und empfindliche Haut. Grosse, Berlin
- 31. Wilhelm KP, Cua AB, Maibach HI (1991) Skin aging. Effect on transepidermal water loss, stratum corneum hydration, skin surface pH, and casual sebum content. Arch Dermatol 127:1806–1809
- Patil S, Maibach HI (1994) Effect of age and sex on the elicitation of irritant contact dermatitis. Contact Dermatitis 30:257-264
- 33. Ghadially R, Brown BE, Sequeira-Martin SM, Feingold KR, Elias PM (1995) The aged epidermal permeability barrier. Structural, functional, and lipid biochemical abnormalities in humans and a senescent murine model. J Clin Invest 95:2281-2290
- 34. Berardesca E, Maibach HI (1988) Racial differences in sodium lauryl sulfate induced cutaneous irritation: black and white. Contact Dermatitis 18:65-69
- 35. Berardesca E, Maibach HI (1988) Sodium lauryl sulfate induced cutaneous irritation. Comparison of white and Hispanic subjects. Contact Dermatitis 19:136–140
- Frosch PJ, Kligman AM (1977) Rapid blister formation in human skin with ammonium hydroxide. Br J Dermatol 96:461-473
- Frosch PJ, Duncan S, Kligman AM (1980) Cutaneous biometrics I. The response of human skin to dimethyl sulphoxide. Br J Dermatol 102:263–274
- 38. Pinnagoda J, Tupker R, Agner T, Serup J (1990) Guidelines for transepidermal water loss (TEWL) measurement. A report from the standardization group of the European Contact Dermatitis Society. Contact Dermatitis 22: 164–178
- 39. Rystedt I (1985) Work-related hand eczema in atopics. Contact Dermatitis 12:164–171
- 40. Nilsson E, Bäck O (1986) The importance of anamnestic information of atopy, metal dermatitis and earlier hand eczema for the development of hand eczema in women in wet hospital work. Acta Derm Venereol (Stockh) 66:45-50
- Werner Y, Lindberg M (1985) Transepidermal water loss in dry and clinically normal skin in patients with atopic dermatitis. Acta Derm Venereol (Stockh) 65:102–105
- 42. Tupker RA, Pinnagoda J, Coenraads PJ, Nater JP (1990) Susceptibility to irritants: role of barrier function, skin dryness and history of atopic dermatitis. Br J Dermatol 123:199–205
- Agner T (1991) Susceptibility of atopic dermatitis patients to irritant dermatitis caused by sodium lauryl sulfate. Acta Derm Venereol (Stockh) 71:296–300
- 44. Van der Valk PGM, Vries MHK, Nater JP, Bleumink E, de Jong MCJM (1985) Eczematous reactions of the skin and barrier function as determined by water vapour loss. Clin Exp Dermatol 10:98-103
- 45. Seidenari S, Belletti B, Schiavi ME (1996) Skin reactivity to sodium lauryl sulfate in patients with respiratory atopy. J Am Acad Dermatol 35:47–52
- 46. Coverly J, Peters L, Whittle E, Basketter DA (1998) Susceptibility to stinging, nonimmunologic contact urticaria and acute skin irritation, is there a relationship? Contact Dermatitis 38:90-95
- Johnson MW, Maibach HI, Salmon SE (1971) Skin reactivity in patients with cancer. N Engl J Med 284:1255–1256
- 48. Roper S, Jones HE (1982) A new look at conditioned hyperirritability. J Am Acad Dermatol 7:643–650
- 49. Sulzberger MB, Rostenberg A (1939) Acquired specific hypersensitivity (allergy) to simple chemicals. J Immunol 36:17-27

- 50. Landsteiner K, Rostenberg A, Sulzberger MB (1939) Individual differences in susceptibility to eczematous sensitization with simple chemical substances. J Invest Dermatol 2:25-29
- 51. Moss C, Friedmann PS, Shuster S, Simpson JM (1985) Susceptibility and amplification of sensitivity in contact dermatitis. Clin Exp Immunol 61:232-241
- 52. Forsbeck M, Skog E, Ytterborn KH (1968) Delayed type of allergy and atopic disease among twins. Acta Derm Venereol (Stockh) 48:192–197
- 53. Menné T, Holm NV (1983) Nickel allergy in a female twin population. Int J Dermatol 22:22–28
- 54. Bryld LE, Hindsberger C, Kyvik KO, Agner T, Menné T (2004). Genetic factors in nickel allergy evaluated in a population based female twin sample. J Invest Dermatol 123:1025–1029
- 55. Menné T, Holm NV (1986) Genetic susceptibility in human allergic contact sensitization. Semin Dermatol 5:301–306
- Ansar Ahmed S, Penhale WJ, Talal N (1985) Sex hormones, immune responses and autoimmune diseases. Am J Pathol 121:531–551
- Walker FB, Smith PD, Maibach HI (1967) Genetic factors in human allergic contact dermatitis. Int Arch Allergy 32: 453–462
- Schønning L, Hjorth N (1969) Sex difference in capacity for sensitization. Contact Dermatitis 5:100
- 59. Rees Jl, Friedmann PS, Matthews JNS (1989) Sex differences in susceptibility to development of contact sensitization to DNCB. Br J Dermatol 120:371–374
- 60. Meijer C, Bredberg M, Fischer T, Widström L (1995) Ear piercing and nickel and cobalt sensitization, in 520 young Swedish men doing compulsory military service. Contact Dermatitis 32:147–149
- 61. Rea TH (1979) Quantitative enhancement of DNCB responsitivity in women receiving oral contraceptives. Arch Dermatol 115:361-362
- 62. Modjtahedi BS, Modjtahedi SP, Maibach HI (2004) The sex of the individual as a factor in allergic contact dermatitis. Contact Dermatitis 50:53-59
- Manzini BM, Ferdani G, Simonetti V, Donini M, Seidenari S (1998) Contact sensitization in children. Pediatr Dermatol 15:12–17
- 64. Mortz CG, Lauritsen JM, Bindslev-Jensen C, Andersen KE (2001) Prevalence of atopic dermatitis, asthma, allergic rhinitis, and hand and contact dermatitis in adolescents. The Odense adolescence cohort study on atopic diseases and dermatitis. Br J Dermatol 144:523-532
- 65. Valsecchi R, Rossi A, Bigardi A, Pigatto PD (1991) The loss of contact sensitization in man. Contact Dermatitis 24: 183–186
- 66. Kligman AM (1966) The identification of contact allergens by human assay. II. Factors influencing the induction and measurements of allergic contact dermatitis. J Invest Dermatol 47:375-392
- 67. Bos JO, Wierenga EA, Smitt JHS, van der Heijden FL, Kaspenberg ML (1992) Immune dysregulation in atopic eczema. Arch Dermatol 128:1509–1512
- 68. Christoffersen J, Menné T, Tanghøj P, Andersen KE, Brandrup F, Kaaber K, Osmundsen PE, Thestrup-Pedersen K, Veien NK (1989) Clinical patch test data evaluated by multivariate analysis. Contact Dermatitis 5:291–300
- 69. Cronin E, Bandmann HJ, Calnan CD, Fregert S, Hjorth N, Magnusson B, Maibach HI, Malten K, Meneghini CL, Pirilä V, Wilkinson DS (1970) Contact dermatitis in the atopics. Acta Derm Venereol (Stockh) 50:1983–1987
- 70. Marghescu S (1985) Patch test reactions in atopic dermatitis. Acta Derm Venereol (Stockh) 114:113-116

- De Groot AC (1990) The frequency of contact allergies in atopic patients with dermatitis. Contact Dermatitis 22: 273-277
- 72. Uehara M, Sawai T (1989) A longitudinal study of contact sensitivity in patients with atopic dermatitis. Arch Dermatol 125:366–368
- 73. Rystedt I (1985) Contact sensitivity in adults with atopic dermatitis in childhood. Contact Dermatitis 13:1-8
- 74. Nielsen NH, Menné T (1996) The relationship between IgE-mediated and cell-mediated hypersensitivities in an unselected Danish population: the Glostrup Allergy Study, Denmark. Br J Dermatol 134:669–672
- 75. Møller H, Svensson Å (1986) Metal sensitivity: positive history but negative test indicates atopy. Contact Dermatitis 14:57-60
- 76. Diepgen TL, Fartasc M, Hornstein OP (1989) Evaluation and relevance of atopic basic and minor features in patients with atopic dermatitis and in the general population. Acta Derm Venereol (Stockh) [Suppl] 144:50-54

- 77. Clark AR, Schwartz EF (1998) The incidence of allergic contact dermatitis in patients with psoriasis vulgaris. Am J Contact Dermat 9:96–99
- 78. Lauerma Al, Maibach HI; Granlaund H, Erkko P, Kartamaa M, Stubb S (1992) Inhibition of contact allergy reactions by topical FK506. Lancet 340:556
- 79. Cooper KD, Oberhelman L, Hamilton TA, Baadsgaard O, Terhune M, LeVee G, Anderson T, Koren H (1992) UV exposure reduces immunization rates and promotes tolerance to epicutaneous antigens in humans: relationship to dose, CD1a-DR+ epidermal macrophage induction, and Langerhans cell depletion. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 15:89: 8497–8501
- 80. Skov L, Hansen H, Barker JN, Simon JC, Baadsgaard O (1997) Contrasting effects of ultraviolet-A and ultraviolet-B exposure on induction of contact sensitivity in human skin. Clin Exp Immunol 107:585-588
- Thorvaldsen J, Volden G (1980) PUVA-induced diminution of contact allergic and irritant skin reactions. Clin Exp Dermatol 5:43-46